

Mycobacterium paratuberculosis Does it contribute to Crohn's disease?

Food Safety Authority of Ireland Abbey Court, Lower Abbey Street, Dublin 1 Telephone: +353 1 817 1300 Facsimile: +353 1 817 1301 Website: www.fsai.ie

Published January 2000

Contents

	Page
Foreword	3
What is Crohn's disease?	4
What is Mycobacterium paratuberculosis?	4
Is there a link between <i>Mycobacterium paratuberculosis</i> and Crohn's disease?	5
Is Mycobacterium paratuberculosis a cause of Crohn's disease?	5
Is milk a potential or actual hazard in the cause or exacerbation of Crohn's disease?	6
Is there a pasteurisation procedure which will inactivate all <i>Mycobacterium paratuberculosis</i> without causing unacceptable changes to the taste of milk?	7
Is there a method of ensuring that a modified pasteurisation process is properly applied in practice?	7
Are specific measures for control of <i>Mycobacterium</i> paratuberculosis required in cattle?	8
Mycobacterium paratuberculosis infection in humans	8
Measures to prevent human infection with <i>Mycobacterium paratuberculosis</i> through the consumption of milk and milk products – current position	9
Issues for consideration	9
Conclusion	10
References	11
Members of the Microbiology Sub-committee	15

Foreword

Crohn's disease is a condition in which the wall of the bowel of humans becomes inflamed and thickened. Sometimes inflammation may also occur in other parts of the body. Crohn's disease is a very variable and unpredictable condition. Some people affected by this disease have very severe problems with pain, inability to absorb food properly and diarrhoea almost continually unless they have treatment. Others have very long periods of relatively good health with occasional episodes of "flare up" of the disease.

The cause of Crohn's disease is not known. There is strong evidence to support the belief that the immune system of those with Crohn's disease behaves differently from that of most people and that this is part of the reason for the inflammation in the wall of the bowel. There are also reasons to believe that items in the diet or the environment may contribute to the inflammation. One of the possible contributory factors that has received attention in recent years is a species of bacteria called *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis*. This bacterium has been known for many years as a cause of Johne's disease, a bowel disease in cattle. Johne's disease is uncommon in Ireland. Johne's disease in cattle has a number of similarities with human Crohn's disease but they are not identical diseases. It is known that cows infected with *M. paratuberculosis* do not appear ill for several years and so can continue to provide milk for human consumption. It is also known that these bacteria can enter the milk of infected animals. Recent evidence also suggests that some strains of *M. paratuberculosis* may be less easily killed by pasteurisation than many other kinds of bacteria.

In this report we have sought to evaluate the available, sometimes conflicting, evidence on the possibility that *M. paratuberculosis* represents a risk to human health. Many questions that might be readily addressed in respect of other kinds of bacteria are much more difficult to answer for this species as the organism is difficult to grow in the laboratory. Given the existing state of knowledge we have recommended that such measures as are reasonably practical should be taken to minimise exposure of the public to this organism. These measured recommendations reflect a consciousness that the world we live in and the food we eat is not free from bacteria and that efforts to render it so may be counterproductive, in terms of the quality and variety of the food we eat. Even as this report is published new research will no doubt appear in relation to *M. paratuberculosis* and Crohn's disease and it will be necessary to keep this

topic under review in the light of what will be learned over the coming years.

Prof Martin Cormican Microbiology Sub-committee

What is Crohn's disease?

Crohn's disease is a chronic inflammatory disease of which the cause or causes are not established. ^{5,10,13,14,16,22,27}. Although primarily considered a disease of the small intestine it can affect any part of the gastro-intestinal tract and sometimes extra-intestinal body sites. Current concepts regarding the cause of Crohn's disease emphasise a dysfunction of the immune system resulting in a prolonged and intense process of inflammation. The damage to the bowel appears to be due to this inflammatory process 5,12,22,27,31 It is generally accepted that people who develop Crohn's disease have some inherited characteristic which makes them susceptible to the development of Crohn's disease but also that some environmental factor or factors¹⁵ are required to initiate the disease, in addition to the inherited characteristic^{5,13,14,16}. An immune response resulting in inflammation may be triggered by a living bacterium or virus or by non-living substances such as fragments of dead bacteria, elements of food etc. Environmental factors might be important not only in starting the process of inflammation but also in maintaining the process. It is possible that, even in a particular person with Crohn's disease, any one of several environmental factors may contribute to triggering or maintaining the disease ^{13,14}. Theories in relation to environmental factors include microbes of several types Mycobacterium paratuberculosis ^{3,7,8,11,15,21,28,29,30,32,33} and other includina Mycobacterium paratuberculosis other microbes normally present in the large intestine ^{1,23,35}. In addition, substances in food, toothpaste and exposure to measles and measles vaccine have been or are being investigated as possible trigger factors^{6,10,18,25}.

What is Mycobacterium paratuberculosis?

The genus *Mycobacterium* is a large group (more than 70 species) of bacteria²⁴. Although the best known species are *M. tuberculosis* and *M. bovis*, which are associated with human and bovine tuberculosis respectively, other species may cause disease in animals or exist in the environment and rarely or never cause infection in otherwise healthy humans. *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* is the causative agent of Johne's disease in cattle^{4,9}. It is difficult to study because it grows very slowly and only under very specific conditions in the laboratory ⁹. Many recent studies of *M. paratuberculosis* have used detection of DNA using the Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) because of the difficulty in growing this organism ^{3,7,11,15,21,28,32}.

M. paratuberculosis is differentiated from the great many mycobacterial species which are common in the environment by its clearly established ability to cause bowel disease in cattle and other animal species. It is not known at the present time if *M. paratuberculosis* is capable of causing bowel disease in humans but in rare cases it may be associated with infection of the lymph nodes ^{3,9,30}.

Is there a link between *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* and Crohn's disease?

The pathological changes in the small intestines of Crohn's disease sufferers can closely resemble those found in cases of Johne's disease in cattle¹¹.

M. paratuberculosis has been cultured from the intestinal tract of some individuals with Crohn's disease (overall about 7.5% of those studied)³. The organism has also been cultured from healthy individuals but much less frequently (less than 1% overall)³. Some of the evidence implicating *M. paratuberculosis* in Crohn's disease is based on the detection of *M. paratuberculosis* nucleic acids using PCR³. Although PCR is capable of detecting very low levels of *M. paratuberculosis* nucleic acids, in most studies the methods used are not capable of determining if the nucleic acid amplified originated from living or dead bacteria.

Summary: Current evidence suggests that although *M. paratuberculosis* bacteria and *M. paratuberculosis* DNA are not detectable in most people with Crohn's disease, they may be detectable more commonly in the gastrointestinal tract of those with Crohn's disease than in individuals without Crohn's disease³.

Is Mycobacterium paratuberculosis a cause of Crohn's disease?

The inconsistent results of studies designed to demonstrate the presence of *M.* paratuberculosis in the bowel of those with Crohn's disease, when considered together with the evidence for the importance of other hereditary and environmental factors, suggest that if *M. paratuberculosis* is involved in the etiology of Crohn's disease it is probably not the sole cause^{3,13,14}.

Although beneficial effects of treatment with "anti-mycobacterial" therapy have been reported¹⁹, the antibiotics used in most cases are also active against many other species of bacteria^{19,20}. Beneficial effects of treatment have also been reported with antibiotics which are not known to have any useful effect on mycobacterial infection¹³.

It should be noted that immuno-supressant drugs rather than anti-bacterial treatment is the standard approach to the treatment of Crohn's disease^{12,13} and that although AIDS is associated with increased susceptibility to infection with many species of mycobacteria, individuals with Crohn's disease and AIDS may experience remissions of Crohn's disease³⁴. These factors suggest that if bacteria or substances of bacterial origin are involved in Crohn's disease it is possible that a dysfunctional immune response to these factors may be as important or more important than the bacteria themselves.

Is milk a potential or actual hazard in the cause or exacerbation of Crohn's disease?

The current incidence of Johne's disease in Irish cattle is low. In 1997 the Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development reported 12 diagnosed cases. The condition is notifiable. It is conceivable that a certain amount of under-reporting may occur since there is little obvious financial advantage to the farmer in reporting cases.

Large numbers of cattle intended for breeding and milk production are imported each year from other Member States of the European Union. Intra-community law does not require a test for Johne's disease as a condition of trade. It must be said that the diagnostic tests currently available have a poor reputation for both sensitivity and specificity except in animals already showing clinical signs⁴.

It has been shown that milk from cows affected with Johne's disease may carry M. paratuberculosis⁹. This appears to be most likely before or during the period in which clinical signs are present.

The sale of unpasteurised cows' milk for direct human consumption has been banned since 1 August 1997. The preparation of cheese from raw milk is permitted under certain conditions but these conditions do not make specific reference to Johne's disease or testing for Johne's disease.

In respect of unpasteurised milk it is important to note the following:

- a) Crohn's disease is more common in developed than in undeveloped countries²⁷. Some of the differences in rates of diagnosis may be due to differences in the level of health care provided,
- b) Crohn's disease may be more common in urban than in rural areas³, whereas the level of consumption of unpasteurised milk (and incidentally of contact with animals suffering from Johne's disease) is considerably higher in rural areas,
- c) since dead bacteria or substances derived from bacteria may contribute to initiating or sustaining an immune response, it is not possible to be certain that inactivation of any bacteria which might contribute to an inflammatory process in the gastrointestinal tract would render the bacteria immunologically inert,
- d) there is evidence that the time/temperature combination established in European Community and national law as the minimum required for effective pasteurisation of milk (71.7°C for 15 seconds) does not render all *M. paratuberculosis* non-viable, however the experimental work done in this area has been based almost entirely on seeded samples pasteurised under laboratory conditions ^{2,11}.

There is a body of opinion which holds that, while the incomplete inactivation of the bacteria by pasteurisation, under laboratory conditions, results from clumping, which effectively protects at least some of the organisms from the full effects of the heat applied, the relative turbulence of the flow of milk through commercial pasteurisers prevents clumping and thus allows for a higher "kill" ²⁶. This, coupled with the much lower burden of bacteria resulting from the dilution effect of bulking milk from a large number of cows, is one of the bases for an optimistic view of the risk involved. On the other hand, one study indicates that samples of milk collected in the London area over a period of two years gave a positive result for *M. paratuberculosis* in 7% of cases when examined by the IS900-PCR method ¹⁷. As previously stated, this PCR approach does not differentiate between viable and non- viable organisms. Attempts to culture the organism from the milk samples in this study were unsuccessful.

Is there a pasteurisation procedure which will inactivate all *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* without causing unacceptable changes to the taste of milk?

Some research conducted under laboratory conditions suggests that, in order to ensure inactivation of all *M. paratuberculosis* both the temperature and the length of time of pasteurisation may need to be raised from the present accepted levels¹¹. The research suggests that time is more important than temperature, but no firm guidelines as to the most effective level of either, under commercial conditions, have emerged.

In practice the dairy industry pasteurises at a temperature two or three degrees above the legal minimum of 71.7°C for 15 seconds to make certain that there is no risk of falling below this level of treatment. However, there is an upper temperature beyond which unacceptable changes to the taste of milk start to occur.

Any increase in the temperature and/or time of commercial pasteurisation involves additional cost in generating and applying the extra heat, although of course this is not a consideration where such measures are clearly warranted for in the protection of public health.

Is there a method of ensuring that a modified pasteurisation process is properly applied in practice?

If a temperature/time combination which inactivates all *M. paratuberculosis* is determined and if implementation of such a process was considered justified, then a modification of, or substitute for, the phosphatase test would be needed which would indicate, accurately and rapidly, that effective treatment has been achieved. This would call for development work both in the laboratory and, more importantly, under commercial conditions.

Are specific measures for control of *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* required in cattle?

M. paratuberculosis is an important animal pathogen and has the potential to cause problems involving animal welfare as well as economic losses in the dairy industry. On this basis, efforts to control the spread of the disease among animals appear appropriate. If *M. paratuberculosis* is harmful to human health, such efforts would also contribute to the protection of public health. Johne's disease is a scheduled and notifiable disease under Irish veterinary legislation. Diseased animals are removed. No human health related measures are taken in relation to the remainder of the herd.

It is accepted that the clinical presentation of Johne's disease occurs very late in the course of infection. The tests available for the detection of *M. paratuberculosis* infection in individual animals prior to development of clinical disease are not highly sensitive. Because of the limitations of existing diagnostic tests it is difficult to identify additional infected but healthy animals in a herd in which a clinical case of Johne's disease has been detected.

Mycobacterium paratuberculosis infection in humans

If *M. paratuberculosis* does cause or contribute to Crohn's disease in humans, the mechanisms by which it may do so are uncertain. It is not clear to what extent viable *M. paratuberculosis* survive commercial pasteurisation. It is conceivable that if *M. paratuberculosis* contributes to a chronic inflammatory process in the human gastrointestinal tract, that it may do so even if rendered non-viable, since it would remain immunogenic even if non-viable.

Effective research is rendered difficult for a number of reasons:

- (i) by the nature of the organism, as it is difficult and slow to grow in the laboratory
- (ii) by the nature of the disease caused in bovines, due to the long incubation period
- (iii) by the limitations of existing technology for detection of infection in the sub- clinical phase of bovine infection, and
- (iv) by the low incidence of Johne's disease in cattle in this country.

Measures to prevent human infection with *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* through the consumption of milk and milk products - current position

No specific precautions are currently in place in respect of *M. paratuberculosis* in milk in any other country, even in those with a high incidence of Johne's disease in dairy cattle. Any change in pasteurisation procedures would require legislative changes and, in the context of the European Union and the single market in milk and milk products, these would have to be Community-wide rather than simply national.

Briefly, the decisions to be made are as follows:

- 1. should measures be taken to control human exposure to this known animal pathogen if there is uncertainty as to whether or not the organism can cause harm to human health?
- 2. what measures are practical and justifiable in the current state of knowledge?

Issues for consideration

- 1. Given that the incidence of Johne's disease is low in Ireland and that diagnostic tests are not very reliable, testing herds may not be practical or necessary.
- 2. A small number of clinical cases of Johne's disease in animals will arise and it is possible that pre-clinical infection exists in some other members of at least a proportion of such herds. It is very likely that *M. paratuberculosis* will be present in the milk derived from *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* infected animals for a period prior to the development of clinical disease. In principle it may be possible to reduce the level of exposure of the human population to viable *M. paratuberculosis* by requiring that milk from dairy herds in Ireland, in which a clinical case of Johne's disease has been diagnosed, be pasteurised before use for human consumption. In practice all milk sold for human consumption from dairy herds in Ireland is already pasteurised, with the exception of a small fraction used for preparation of farmhouse cheese. It should also be noted that milk and milk products, including cheese produced from unpasteurised milk are imported into Ireland from countries in which no such controls are in place.
- 3. At present the only confirmed association between *M. paratuberculosis* and human disease is isolated case reports of infection of lymph nodes in the neck. In Europe infection of lymph nodes of the neck is far more commonly associated with *Mycobacterium avium*, an organism commonly found in water. On this basis it is not apparent that there is an imperative to prevent the possibility of low level exposure of the human population to *M. paratuberculosis*, which would justify the resource implications of additional testing, regulation or depopulation of herds.

4. Even if it is assumed that there is no evidence to suggest a link between *M. paratuberculosis* and Crohn's disease, it is a general principle that diseased animals are not to be used as a source of food for human consumption.

Conclusion

The question put to the Sub-committee asked whether or not *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* contributes to Crohn's disease. The answer is inconclusive for several reasons:

Although we know that *M. paratuberculosis* causes Johne's disease in cattle and that the bacteria may pass into the human food chain via cows' milk, we do not know if the bacteria causes or contributes to Crohn's disease in humans, even though it has been reported that *M. paratuberculosis* has been detected more commonly in patients with Crohn's disease than in the general population (<1.0%).

- Diagnostic tests for Johne's disease are poor but without an extensive monitoring survey we cannot know the true incidence of the infection in dairy cattle. This makes it difficult to link the disease with the human Crohn's disease.
- Normal pasteurisation of milk at 71.7°C for 15 seconds kills low levels of *M. paratuberculosis*. However, experimental work in laboratory conditions has shown that at high levels of *M. paraturberculosis* normal pasteurisation does not render all of the bacteria non-viable. The effectiveness of increasing the time or temperature in the pasteurisation process has not been established and hence any potential benefit to human health cannot be determined.

There is a need to keep this subject under review as international research may provide clarification of the many areas of uncertainty over the coming years.

In the meantime the Sub-committee concludes that:

- 1. It is reasonable to prohibit the use of milk derived from animals with clinical Johne's disease in the interim between their identification and their removal from the herd. The use of milk from such animals for calves is likely to facilitate spread of infection and prohibition of its use for this purpose may also be reasonable.
- 2. Raw milk from farms where Johne's disease is current should not be used for human consumption or for use, unpasteurised, in the making of cheese.

References

- 1. Cartun RW, Van Kruiningen HJM, Oedersen CA and Berman MM. 1993. An immunocytochemical search for infectious agents in Crohn's disease. Modern Pathology 6: 212-219.
- 2. Chiodini RJ and Hermon Taylor J. 1993. The thermal resistance of *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* in raw milk under conditions simulating pasteurisation. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 5: 90-117.
- 3. Chiodini RJ and Rossiter CA. 1996. Paratuberculosis: A potential zoonosis? Veterinary Clinics of North America 12: 457-467.
- 4. Cocito C, Gilot P, Coene M, de Kesel M, Poupart P and Vannuffel P. 1994. Paratuberculosis. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 7: 328-345.
- Danze PM, Colombel JF, Jacquot S, Loste MN, Heresbach D, Ategbo S, Khamassi S, Perichon B, Semana G, Charon D and Kezard JD. 1996. Association of HLA class II genes with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Gut: 39: 69-72.
- Daszak P, Purcell M, Lewin J, Dhillon AO, Pounder RE and Wakefield AJ. 1997. Detection and comparative analysis of persistent measles virus infection in Crohn's disease by immunogold electron microscopy. Journal of Clinical Pathology 50: 299-304.
- Dumonceau JM, Van Gossum A, Adler M, Fonteyne PA, Van Vooren JP, Deviere J and Portaels F. 1996. No *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* found in Crohn's disease using polymerase chain reaction. Digestive Disease Science 1996 41: 421-426.
- 8. el Zaatari FA, Nasser SA, Engstrand L, Burch PE, Hachem CY, Whipple DL and Graham DY. 1995. Nucleotide sequence analysis and seroreactivities of the 65K heat shock protein form *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis*. Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology 2: 657-664.
- 9. **Falkinham J.O.** 1996. Epidemiology of infection by nontuberculous mycobacteria. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 9:177-215.
- 10. Feeney M, Clegg A, Winwood P and Snook J. 1997. A case control study of measles vaccination and inflammatory bowel disease. Lancet 350: 764-766.
- Grant IR. 1997. Zoonotic potential of *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis*, p. 75-83. *In*: Holland, CV (ed.) Modern Perspectives on Zoonoses. Royal Irish Academy, Dublin.

- 12. Hodgson HJ. 1998. Keeping Crohn's disease quiet. N.E.J.M. 334:1599-1600.
- Kornbluth A, Salomon P and Suchar DB. 1993 Crohn's disease, p. 1270-1304. *In*: Sleisenger MH, Fordtran JS (eds). Gastroenetrological Disease 5th Edition. WB Saunders, Philadelphia.
- 14. Koutroubakis I, Manousos ON, Meuwissen SG and Pena AS. 1996. Environmental risk factors in inflammatory bowel disease. Hepato-Gastroenterology 43:381-393.
- 15. Lisby G, Andersen J, Engbaek K and Binder V. 1994. *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* in intestinal tissue from patients with Crohns disease demonstrated by a nested primer polymerase chain reaction. Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology 29: 923-929.
- McLeod RS, Steinhart AH, Siminovitch KA, Greenberg GR, Bull SB, Blair JE, Cnuz CR, Barton PM and Cohen Z. 1997. Preliminary report of the Mount Sinai Hospital Inflammatory Bowel Disease Genetics Project. Disease of the Colon and Rectum 40: 553-557.
- 17. Millar D, Ford J, Sanderson J, Withey S, Tizard M, Doran T and Hermon-Taylor J. 1996. IS900 PCR to detect *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* in retail supplies of whole pasteurized cows milk in England and Wales. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62: 3446-3452.
- 18. **O'Keefe SJ.** 1996. Nutrition and gastrointestinal disease. Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology-Supplement. 220:52-59.
- 19. Prantera C, Kohn A, Mangiarotti R, Andreoli A and Luzi C. 1994. Antimycobacterial therapy in Crohns disease: results of a controlled double blind trial with a multiple antibiotic regimen. American Journal of Gastroenterology 89:513-518.
- 20. Prantera C, Zannoni F, Scribano MI, Berto E, Andreoli A, Kohn A and Luzi C. 1996. An antibiotic regimen for the treatment of active Crohn's disease: a randomized, controlled trial of metronidazole and ciprofloxacin. American Journal of Gastroenterology 91:328-332.
- 21. Rowbotham DS, Howdel PD and Trejdosiewicz LK. 1995. Peripheral cell mediated immune response to mycobacterial antigens in inflammatory bowel disease. Clinical and Experimental Immunology 102:456-461.
- 22. **Sartor RB**. 1995. Current concepts of the aetiology and pathogenesis of ulcerative colitis and Crohns disease. Gastroenterology Clinics of North America 24:475 507.

- 23. Sendid B. Colombel JF, Jacquinot PM, Faille C, Fruit J, Corot A, Lucidarme D, Camus D and Poulain D. 1996. Specific antibody response to oligomannosidic epitopes in Crohn's disease. Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology 3:219-226.
- 24. Shinnick TM and Good RC. 1994. Mycobacterial taxonomy. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect.Dis. 13:884-901.
- 25. **Sullivan SN**. 1990. Hypothesis revisited: toothpaste and the cause of Crohn's disease. Lancet 337: 1096-1097.
- 26. Stabel JR, Steadman E and Bolin CA. 1997. Heat inactivation of Mycobacterium paratuberculosis in raw milk by the holder test-tube method and laboratory scale pasteurizer. Proceedings of the American Society for Microbiology. Abstract C-363.
- 27. **Strober W and Neurath MF**. 1996. Immunologic Diseases of the Gastrointestinal Tract, p.1401-1428. *In*: Rich R.R. (et eds). Clinical Immunology, Principles and Practice. Mosby, St. Louis.
- 28. Suenaga K, Yokoyama Y, Okazaki K and Yamamoto Y. 1996. Mycobacteria in the intestine of Japanese patients with inflammatory bowel disease. American Journal of Gastroenterology 91:76-80.
- 29. **Thompson DE**. 1994. The role of mycobacteria in Crohn's disease. Journal of Medical Microbiology 41:74-94.
- 30. **Travis SP**. 1995. Mycobacteria on trial: guilty or innocent in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease? European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology 7:1173-1176.
- 31. Van Hogezand RA and Verspaget HW 1996. Selective immunomodulation in patients with inflammatory bowel disease-future therapy or reality. Netherlands Journal of Medicine 48: 64-67.
- 32. Wall S, Kunze ZM, Saboor S, Soufleri I, Seechurn P, Chiodini R and McFadden JJ. 1993. Identification of spheroplast-like agents isolated from tissues of patients with Crohn's disease and control tissues by polymerase chain reaction. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 31: 1241-11245.
- 33. Walmsley RS, Ibbotson JP, Chahal H and Allan RN. 1996. Antibodies against *Mycobacterium paratuberculosis* in Crohn's disease. Quarterly Journal of Medicine. 89: 217-221.

- 34. Yoshida EM, Chan NH, Herrick RA, Amar JN, Sestak PM, Willoughby BL and Whittaker JS. 1996. Human immunodeficiency virus infection, the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome and inflammatory bowel disease. Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology 23: 24-28.
- 35. Young CA, Sonnenberg A and Burns EA. 1994. Lymphocyte proliferation response to yeast in Crohn's disease. Digestion 55:40-43.

Members of the Microbiology Sub-committee

Chair Prof JD Collins	Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University College Dublin
Members Prof M Cormican	University College Hospital, Galway and National University of Ireland, Galway
Mr R Ellard	Food Safety Authority of Ireland
Mr M Fallon	Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Development
Dr C Foley-Nolan	Southern Health Board Cork
Prof J Hannan	Faculty of Veterinary Medicine University College Dublin
Dr C Hill	Microbiology Department University College Cork
Dr P Ross	Teagasc, Fermoy Cork
Dr J Sheridan	The National Food Centre Dublin
Dr M Upton	Department of Industrial Microbiology University College Dublin
Secretariat Ms S Byrne	Food Safety Authority of Ireland